

**AMENDMENTS TO THE OHIO RULES
OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE**

The following amendments to the Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure (6, 7, 33, 34, 36, 47, 54, and 56), the Ohio Rules of Criminal Procedure (4, 6, 11, 12, 16, and 37), the Ohio Rules of Evidence (615 and 801), Ohio Rules of Appellate Procedure (3 and 5), the Ohio Rules of Juvenile Procedure (22, 24, 26, 29, and 34) have been adopted by the Supreme Court. The history of these amendments is as follows:

August 27, 2018	First publication for public comment
January 14, 2019	Second publication for public comment
January 9, 2019	First filing with General Assembly
April 10, 2019	Final approval by conference
April 24, 2019	Final filing with General Assembly
July 1, 2019	Effective date of amendments (<u>ASSUMING THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY DOES NOT ACT</u>)

Key to Adopted Amendments:

1. Unaltered language appears in regular type. Example: text
2. Language that has been deleted appears in strikethrough. Example: ~~text~~
3. New language that has been added appears in underline. Example: text

1 OHIO RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

2
3 **RULE 6. Time**

4
5 [Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

6
7 **(C) Time: ~~motion~~ Motions**

8
9 **(1) Motion responses and movants’ replies to motions generally.** Unless otherwise
10 provided by these rules, by local rule, or by order of the court, a responses Responses to a written
11 motion, other than a ~~motion that may be heard ex parte~~ motions for summary judgment, shall may
12 be served within fourteen days after service of the motion, ~~and a.~~ Responses to motions for
13 summary judgment may be served within twenty-eight days after service of the motion. A
14 movant’s reply to a response to any written motion may be served within seven days after service
15 of the response to the motion.

16
17 **(2) Motions prior to hearing or trial.** Unless a different period is fixed under these
18 rules or by order of the court, a written motion for purposes of a hearing that is not a trial shall be
19 served no later than fourteen days prior to the hearing, and a written motion for purposes of a trial
20 shall be served no later than twenty-eight days prior to the start of trial. Responses to such motions
21 may be served as provided by Civ.R. 6(C); however, a movant’s reply to the response is not
22 permitted.

23
24 **(3) Modification for good cause upon motion.** Upon motion of a party in an action,
25 and for good cause, the court may reduce or enlarge the periods of time provided in divisions
26 (C)(1) and (C)(2) of this rule.

27
28 [Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

29
30
31 **Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)**

32
33 **Division 6(C)**

34
35 The amendment separates Civ.R. 6(C) into three divisions.

36
37 **Division (C)(1)**

38
39 The provisions of Division (C)(1) supersede and replace the differing deadlines for responding to
40 motions imposed by the numerous local rules of Ohio trial courts, thereby eliminating confusion and creating
41 consistency by providing uniform statewide deadlines. The division establishes a twenty-eight- day deadline
42 for service of responses to motions for summary judgment, and a fourteen-day deadline for service of
43 responses to all other motions. A movant’s reply to a response to any motion may be served within seven
44 days after service of the response.

45
46
47

48 **Division (C)(2)**

49
50 The provisions of Division (C)(2) establish deadlines for serving written motions for purposes of a
51 hearing or trial (e.g., motions in limine, motions to bifurcate, etc.). Unless a different period is fixed under
52 another Rule of Civil Procedure or by order of the court (e.g. an scheduling order entered in accordance
53 with Civ.R. 16) written motions for purposes of a hearing must be served not later than fourteen days prior
54 to the hearing, while motions for purposes of trial must be served not later than twenty-eight days prior to
55 trial.

56
57 **Division (C)(3)**

58
59 The provisions of Division (C)(3) permit the court to modify the periods of time provided in Division
60 (C)(1) and Division (C)(2) in an individual action upon the filing of a motion of a party and for good cause.
61 For example, expediting interlocutory rulings in an action for injunctive relief might constitute good cause
62 for reducing the time for responding to certain motions in that action.

63
64 **RULE 7. Pleadings and Motions**

65
66 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

67
68 **(B) Motions**

69
70 (1) An application to the court for an order shall be by motion which, unless made
71 during a hearing or a trial, shall be made in writing. A motion, whether written or oral, shall state
72 with particularity the grounds therefor, and shall set forth the relief or order sought. A written
73 motion, and any supporting affidavits, shall be served in accordance with Civ.R. 5 unless the
74 motion may be heard ex parte.

75
76 (2) To expedite its business, the court may make provision by rule or order not
77 inconsistent with these rules for the submission and determination of motions without oral hearing
78 upon brief written statements of reasons in support and opposition.

79
80 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

81
82 **Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)**

83
84
85 **Division (B)(2)**

86
87 Division (B)(2) of the rule is amended to ensure that any local rule or order of the court relating to
88 the submission and determination of motions is not inconsistent with the provisions of any other Rule of
89 Civil Procedure (e.g., Civ.R. 6).

90
91
92 **RULE 33. Interrogatories to Parties.**

93
94 **(A) Availability; procedures for use.** Any party, without leave of court, may serve
95 upon any other party up to forty written interrogatories to be answered by the party served. ~~A~~ The
96 party serving the interrogatories shall serve ~~the party with~~ an electronic copy of the interrogatories

97 ~~The electronic copy shall be reasonably useable for word processing and provided on computer~~
98 ~~disk on a shareable medium and in an editable format,~~ by electronic mail, or by other means agreed
99 to by the parties. A party who is unable to provide an electronic copy of the interrogatories may
100 seek leave of court to be relieved of this requirement. A party shall not propound more than forty
101 interrogatories to any other party without leave of court. Upon motion, and for good cause shown,
102 the court may extend the number of interrogatories that a party may serve upon another party. For
103 purposes of this rule, any subpart propounded under an interrogatory shall be considered a separate
104 interrogatory.

105
106 (1) If the party served is a public or private corporation or a partnership or association,
107 the organization shall choose one or more of its proper employees, officers, or agents to answer
108 the interrogatories, and the employee, officer, or agent shall furnish information as is known or
109 available to the organization.

110
111 (2) Interrogatories, without leave of court, may be served upon the plaintiff after
112 commencement of the action and upon any other party after service of the summons and complaint
113 upon the party.

114
115 (3) Each interrogatory shall be answered separately and fully in writing under oath,
116 unless it is objected to, in which event the reasons for objection shall be stated in lieu of an answer.
117 The party upon whom the interrogatories have been served shall quote each interrogatory
118 immediately preceding the corresponding answer or objection. When the number of interrogatories
119 exceeds forty without leave of court, the party upon whom the interrogatories have been served
120 need only answer or object to the first forty interrogatories. The answers are to be signed by the
121 person making them, and the objections signed by the attorney making them. The party upon whom
122 the interrogatories have been served shall serve a copy of the answers and objections within a
123 period designated by the party submitting the interrogatories, not less than twenty-eight days after
124 the service of the interrogatories or within such shorter or longer time as the court may allow.

125
126 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

127
128
129 **Proposed Staff Note (2019 Amendment)**

130
131 **Division (A)**

132
133 Recognizing the advancements in technology that have occurred since the 2004 amendment to
134 the rule, the amendment to Division (A) changes the description of the type of electronic copy that shall be
135 served from a copy that is “reasonably useable for word processing and provided on computer disk” to a
136 copy “on a shareable medium and in an editable format.”

137
138
139 **RULE 34. Producing documents, electronically stored information, and tangible**
140 **things, or entering onto land, for inspection and other purposes.**

141
142 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187

(B) Procedure. Without leave of court, the request may be served upon the plaintiff after commencement of the action and upon any other party after service of the summons and complaint upon that party. The request shall set forth the items to be inspected either by individual item or by category and describe each item and category with reasonable particularity. The request shall specify a reasonable time, place, and manner of making the inspection and performing the related acts. The request may specify the form or forms in which electronically stored information is to be produced, but may not require the production of the same information in more than one form. The party serving the request shall include serve an electronic copy of the request on a shareable medium and in an editable format by electronic mail, or by other means agreed to by the parties. A party who is unable to provide an electronic copy of the interrogatories may seek leave of court to be relieved of this requirement.

(1) The party upon whom the request is served shall serve a written response within a period designated in the request that is not less than twenty-eight days after the service of the requestor within a shorter or longer time as the court may allow. With respect to each item or category, the response shall state that inspection and related activities will be permitted as requested, unless it is objected to, including an objection to the requested form or forms for producing electronically stored information, in which event the reasons for objection shall be stated. If objection is made to part of an item or category, the part shall be specified. If objection is made to the requested form or forms for producing electronically stored information, or if no form was specified in the request, the responding party must state the form or forms it intends to use. The party submitting the request may move for an order under Civ. R. 37 with respect to any objection to or other failure to respond to the request or any part of the request, or any failure to permit inspection as requested.

(2) A party who produces documents for inspection shall, at its option, produce them as they are kept in the usual course of business or organized and labeled to correspond with the categories in the request.

(3) If a request does not specify the form or forms for producing electronically stored information, a responding party may produce the information in a form or forms in which the information is ordinarily maintained if that form is reasonably useable, or in any form that is reasonably useable. Unless ordered by the court or agreed to by the parties, a party need not produce the same electronically stored information in more than one form.

[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)

Division (B)

Division (B) of the rule is amended to include a requirement that the party serving this form of discovery requests include an electronic copy in a word-processing format. This requirement is already found in Civ.R. 33(A) and Civ.R. 36(A) for interrogatories and requests for admissions, respectively. Its

188 inclusion here recognizes the reality that practitioners typically respond to this form of discovery requests
189 in writing in addition to any accompanying responsive materials.

190
191 **RULE 36. Requests for Admission.**

192
193 (A) **Availability; procedures for use.** A party may serve upon any other party a written
194 request for the admission, for purposes of the pending action only, of the truth of any matters
195 within the scope of Civ.R. 26(B) set forth in the request, that relate to statements or opinions of
196 fact or of the application of law to fact, including the genuineness of any documents described in
197 the request. Copies of documents shall be served with the request unless they have been or are
198 otherwise furnished or made available for inspection and copying. The request may, without leave
199 of court, be served upon the plaintiff after commencement of the action and upon any other party
200 after service of the summons and complaint upon that party. ~~A~~ The party serving a the request for
201 admission shall serve the party with an electronic copy of the request for admission. The electronic
202 copy shall be reasonably useable for word processing and provided on computer disk on a
203 shareable medium and in an editable format, by electronic mail, or by other means agreed to by
204 the parties. A party who is unable to provide an electronic copy of a request for admission may
205 seek leave of court to be relieved of this requirement.

206
207 (1) Each matter of which an admission is requested shall be separately set forth. The
208 party to whom the requests for admissions have been directed shall quote each request for
209 admission immediately preceding the corresponding answer or objection. The matter is admitted
210 unless, within a period designated in the request, not less than twenty-eight days after service of
211 the request or within such shorter or longer time as the court may allow, party to whom the request
212 is directed serves upon the party requesting the admission a written answer or objection addressed
213 to the matter, signed by the party or by the party's attorney.

214
215 (2) If objection is made, the reasons therefor shall be stated. The answer shall
216 specifically deny the matter or set forth in detail the reasons why the answering party cannot
217 truthfully admit or deny the matter. A denial shall fairly meet the substance of the requested
218 admission, and when good faith requires that a party qualify his or her answer, or deny only a part
219 of the matter of which an admission is requested, the party shall specify so much of it as is true
220 and qualify or deny the remainder. An answering party may not give lack of information or
221 knowledge as a reason for failure to admit or deny unless the party states that the party has made
222 reasonable inquiry and that the information known or readily obtainable by the party is insufficient
223 to enable the party to admit or deny. A party who considers that a matter of which an admission
224 has been requested presents a genuine issue for trial may not, on that ground alone, object to the
225 request; the party may, subject to the provisions of Civ.R. 37(C), deny the matter or set forth
226 reasons why the party cannot admit or deny it.

227
228 (3) The party who has requested the admissions may move for an order with respect to
229 the answers or objections. Unless the court determines that an objection is justified, it shall order
230 that an answer be served. If the court determines that an answer does not comply with the
231 requirements of this rule, it may order either that the matter is admitted or that an amended answer
232 be served. The court may, in lieu of these orders, determine that final disposition of the request be

233 made at a pretrial conference or at a designated time prior to trial. The provisions of Civ.R.
234 37(A)(5) apply to the award of expenses incurred in relation to the motion.

235

236 [Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

237

238

Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)

239

Division (A)

240

241

242

243

244

245

246

247

248

249

RULE 47. Jurors.

250

251

[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

252

253

(D) Alternate Jurors

254

255

256

257

258

259

260

261

262

263

264

(1) Selection; powers. The court may direct that no more than four jurors in addition to the regular jury be called and impaneled to sit as alternate jurors. Alternate jurors in the order in which they are called shall replace jurors who, prior to the time the jury retires to consider its verdict, become or are found to be unable or disqualified to perform their duties. Alternate jurors shall be drawn in the same manner, shall have the same qualifications, shall be subject to the same examination and challenges, shall take the same oath, and shall have the same functions, powers, facilities, and privileges as the regular jurors. Each party is entitled to one peremptory challenge in addition to those otherwise allowed by law if one or two alternate jurors are to be impaneled, and two peremptory challenges if three or four alternate jurors are to be impaneled. The additional peremptory challenges may be used against an alternate juror.

265

266

267

268

269

270

271

272

273

274

(2) Retention; discharge. The court may retain alternate jurors after the jury retires. The court must ensure that a retained alternate does not discuss the case with anyone until that alternate replaces a juror or is discharged. If an alternate replaces a juror after deliberations have begun, the court must instruct the jury to begin its deliberations anew. ~~Each party is entitled to one peremptory challenge in addition to those otherwise allowed by law if one or two alternate jurors are to be impaneled, and two peremptory challenges if three or four alternate jurors are to be impaneled. The additional peremptory challenges may be used against an alternate juror~~ If the court does not retain alternate jurors after the jury retires and instead discharges the alternate jurors, the alternate jurors cannot be recalled as jurors.

275

276

277

278

279

[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

280 **Proposed Staff Note (2019 Amendment)**

281
282 **Division (D)**

283
284 The amendment divides the prior, undivided Division (D) into two parts.

285
286 The language of the existing rule addressing the selection and powers of alternate jurors, including
287 the language relating to the procedure for selecting alternate jurors and the use of peremptory challenges
288 in the selection of alternate jurors, is moved, unchanged, to Division (D)(1).

289
290 Division (D)(2) retains the language of the existing rule permitting the court, in its discretion, to
291 retain alternate jurors when the jury retires to deliberate, but also adds a provision addressing a situation
292 not addressed by the existing rule — the recalling of alternate jurors who are discharged after the jury
293 retires to deliberate. The amendment specifically prohibits the court from recalling discharged alternate
294 jurors.

295
296 Retention. A retained alternate juror has not been discharged. A retained (i.e. not “discharged”)
297 alternate juror continues to be subject to the court’s instructions and admonitions, and thus may not discuss
298 the case with anyone “until that alternate replaces a juror or is discharged.” The rule does not address
299 whether a “retained” alternate juror may be free to leave — a matter left to the court’s discretion — but good
300 practice suggests that the court ensure that a retained alternate juror remain readily available to appear
301 before the court to replace an alternate juror if necessary.

302
303 Discharge. “Discharge” occurs when the court does not retain, but instead “discharges” an alternate
304 juror. A discharged (i.e. not “retained”) alternate juror cannot be recalled as a juror.

305
306
307 **RULE 54. Judgments; Costs.**

308
309 **(A) Definition; form.** ~~“Judgment” as used in these rules includes a decree and any order~~
310 ~~from which an appeal lies as provided in section 2505.02 of the Revised Code means a written~~
311 ~~entry ordering or declining to order a form of relief, signed by a judge, and journalized on the~~
312 ~~docket of the court or other tribunal. A judgment shall not contain a recital of pleadings, the~~
313 ~~magistrate’s decision in a referred matter, or the record of prior proceedings.~~

314
315 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

316
317
318 **Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)**

319
320 **Division (A)**

321
322 The amendment to division (A) deletes the circular reference to the final-order statute, which often
323 could not be reconciled with how the term “judgment” is used in the civil rules or with evolving final-order
324 jurisprudence. Not every judgment constitutes a final order, and some judgments are final under statutes
325 other than R.C. 2505.02. The amendment now places the finality analysis squarely on the apposite statutes,
326 where it rightly belongs.

327
328 The amendment also deletes the last sentence of the rule, which unnecessarily circumscribed the
329 contents of a judgment. The original purpose of this language appears, at least in part, to be to distinguish
330 between decisions (which “announce[] what the judgment will be”) and judgments (which “unequivocally
331 order[] the relief”). See, e.g., *Downard v. Gilliland*, 4th Dist. Jackson No. 10CA2, 2011-Ohio-1783, ¶ 11,

332 citing *St. Vincent Charity Hosp. v. Mintz*, 33 Ohio St.3d 121, 123, 515 N.E.2d 917 (1987). The amendment
333 now specifies that a judgment must order or decline to order a form of relief; what a judgment includes
334 beyond that requirement should be left in the discretion of the issuing court.

335
336 **RULE 56. Summary Judgment.**

337
338 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

339
340 **(C) Motion and proceedings.** The motion together with all affidavits and other materials
341 in support shall be served in accordance with Civ.R. 5. ~~Unless otherwise provided by local rule or~~
342 ~~by order of the court, the adverse party may serve responsive~~ Responsive arguments, ~~and opposing~~
343 ~~together with all affidavits and other materials in opposition, within twenty-eight days after service~~
344 ~~of the motion, and the a movant's may serve~~ reply arguments may be served ~~within fourteen days~~
345 after service of the adverse party's response as provided by Civ.R. 6(C). Summary judgment shall
346 be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, written admissions,
347 affidavits, transcripts of evidence, and written stipulations of fact, if any, timely filed in the action,
348 show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to
349 judgment as a matter of law. No evidence or stipulation may be considered except as stated in this
350 rule. A summary judgment shall not be rendered unless it appears from the evidence or stipulation,
351 and only from the evidence or stipulation, that reasonable minds can come to but one conclusion
352 and that conclusion is adverse to the party against whom the motion for summary judgment is
353 made, that party being entitled to have the evidence or stipulation construed most strongly in the
354 party's favor. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of
355 liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

356
357 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

358
359
360 **Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)**

361 **Division (C)**

362 Recognizing that provisions of Civ.R.6(C) govern the requirements for service of responses to
363 motions for summary judgment and for service of a movant's reply to such responses, the amendment to
364 Civ.R. 56(C) eliminates the prior provisions addressing those matters.

365 Division (C) is also amended to specify that the materials in support of a motion for summary
366 judgment shall be served when the motion is served.

367
368
369
370
371
372 **OHIO RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE**

373
374
375 **RULE 4. Warrant or Summons; Arrest**

376
377 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391
392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400
401
402
403
404
405
406
407
408
409
410
411
412
413
414
415
416
417
418
419
420
421

(F) Release after arrest. ~~In~~ Except when otherwise prohibited by law, in misdemeanor cases where a person has been arrested with or without a warrant, the arresting officer, the officer in charge of the detention facility to which the person is brought or the superior of either officer, without unnecessary delay, may release the arrested person by issuing a summons ~~when~~ unless it appears that issuance of a summons ~~appears will not~~ reasonably calculated to assure the person's appearance. The officer issuing such summons shall note on the summons the time and place the person must appear and, if the person was arrested without a warrant, shall file or cause to be filed a complaint describing the offense. No warrant or alias warrant shall be issued unless the person fails to appear in response to the summons.

[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

RULE 6. The Grand Jury

(A) Summoning grand juries. The judge of the court of common pleas for each county, or the administrative judge of the general division in a multi-judge court of common pleas or a judge designated by ~~him~~ the administrative judge, shall order one or more grand juries to be summoned at such times as the public interest requires. The grand jury shall consist of nine members, including the ~~foreman~~ foreperson, ~~plus not more than five~~ and a number of alternates as provided in division (H) of this rule.

(B) Objections to grand jury and to grand jurors.

(1) Challenges. The prosecuting attorney, or the attorney for a defendant who has been held to answer in the court of common pleas, may challenge the array of grand jurors or an individual grand juror on the ground that the grand jury or individual grand juror was not selected, drawn, or summoned in accordance with the statutes of this state. Challenges shall be made before the administration of the oath to the grand jurors and shall be tried by the court.

(2) Motion to dismiss. A motion to dismiss the indictment may be based on objections to the array or on the lack of legal qualification of an individual juror, if not previously determined upon challenge. An indictment shall not be dismissed on the ground that one or more members of the grand jury were not legally qualified, if it appears from the record kept pursuant to subdivision (C) that seven or more grand jurors, after deducting the number not legally qualified, concurred in finding the indictment.

(C) Foreman Foreperson and deputy foreman foreperson. The court may appoint any qualified elector or one of the grand jurors to be ~~foreman~~ foreperson and one of the grand jurors to be deputy ~~foreman~~ foreperson. The foreperson shall be a member of the grand jury for all purposes, including voting. The ~~foreman~~ foreperson shall have power to administer oaths and affirmations and shall sign all indictments. ~~He~~ The foreperson or another grand juror designated by ~~him~~ the foreperson shall keep a record of the number of grand jurors concurring in the finding of every indictment and shall upon the return of the indictment file the record of concurrence with

422 the clerk of court, ~~but the record shall not be made public except on order of the court.~~ During the
423 absence or disqualification of the ~~foreman~~ foreperson, the deputy ~~foreman~~ foreperson shall act as
424 ~~foreman~~ foreperson.

425
426 **(D) Who may be present.** The prosecuting attorney, the witness under examination,
427 interpreters when needed and, a court reporter or other person designated by the court for the
428 purpose of taking the evidence, ~~a stenographer or operator of a recording device and preparing a~~
429 record of the proceedings may be present while the grand jury is in session, but no person other
430 than the grand jurors and an interpreter for a grand juror pursuant to Sup.R. 88 may be present
431 while the grand jury is deliberating or voting.

432
433 **(E) Secrecy of proceedings and disclosure.** Deliberations of the grand jury and the
434 vote of any grand juror shall not be disclosed. Disclosure of other matters occurring before the
435 grand jury may be made to the prosecuting attorney for use in the performance of his duties only
436 pursuant to this rule. A grand juror, prosecuting attorney, interpreter, ~~stenographer, operator of a~~
437 recording device, court reporter, or typist who transcribes recorded testimony, may disclose other
438 matters occurring before the grand jury, other than the deliberations of a grand jury or the vote of
439 a grand juror, but may disclose such matters only when so directed by the court preliminary to or
440 in connection with a judicial proceeding, or when permitted by the court at the request of the
441 defendant upon a showing that grounds may exist for a motion to dismiss the indictment because
442 of matters occurring before the grand jury. No grand juror, officer of the court, or other person
443 shall disclose that an indictment has been found against a person before such indictment is filed
444 and the case docketed. The court may direct that an indictment shall be kept secret until the
445 defendant is in custody or has been released pursuant to Rule 46. In that event the clerk shall seal
446 the indictment, the indictment shall not be docketed by name until after the apprehension of the
447 accused, and no person shall disclose the finding of the indictment except when necessary for the
448 issuance of a warrant or summons. No obligation of secrecy may be imposed upon any person
449 except in accordance with this rule.

450
451 **(F) Finding and return of indictment.** An indictment may be found only upon the
452 concurrence of seven or more grand jurors. When so found the ~~foreman~~ foreperson or deputy
453 ~~foreman~~ foreperson shall sign the indictment as ~~foreman~~ foreperson or deputy ~~foreman~~ foreperson.
454 The indictment shall be returned by the ~~foreman~~ foreperson or deputy ~~foreman~~ foreperson to a
455 judge of the court of common pleas and filed with the clerk who shall endorse thereon the date of
456 filing and enter each case upon the appearance and trial dockets. If the defendant is in custody or
457 has been released pursuant to ~~Rule~~ Crim.R. 46 and seven grand jurors do not concur in finding an
458 indictment, the ~~foreman~~ foreperson shall so report to the court forthwith.

459
460 **(G) Discharge and excuse.** A grand jury shall serve until discharged by the court. A
461 grand jury may serve for four months, but the court upon a showing of good cause by the
462 prosecuting attorney may order a grand jury to serve more than four months but not more than nine
463 months. The tenure and powers of a grand jury are not affected by the beginning or expiration of
464 a term of court. At any time for cause shown the court may excuse a grand juror either temporarily

465 or permanently, and in the latter event the court may impanel another eligible person in place of
466 the grand juror excused.

467
468 **(H) Alternate grand jurors.** The court may order that ~~not more than five~~ grand jurors,
469 in addition to the regular grand jury, be called, impaneled and sit as alternate grand jurors. Unless
470 provided otherwise by local court rule, the number of alternate grand jurors shall not exceed five.
471 Alternate grand jurors, in the order in which they are called, shall replace grand jurors who, prior
472 to the time the grand jury votes on an indictment, are found to be unable or disqualified to perform
473 their duties. Alternate grand jurors shall be drawn in the same manner, shall have the same
474 qualifications, shall be subjected to the same examination and challenges, shall take the same oath,
475 and shall have the same functions, powers, facilities and privileges as the regular grand jurors.
476 Alternate grand jurors may sit with the regular grand jury, but shall not be present when the grand
477 jury deliberates and votes.

478

479

480

Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)

481

482

Crim.R. 6

483

484

485

486

487

488

489

490

491

RULE 11. Pleas, Rights Upon Plea

492

493

[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

494

495

496

497

498

499

500

501

(F) Negotiated plea ~~in felony~~ cases. When ~~in felony cases~~, a negotiated plea of guilty or
no contest to one or more offenses charged or to one or more other or lesser offenses is offered,
the underlying agreement upon which the plea is based shall be stated on the record in open court.
To the extent required by Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution or by the Revised Code,
before accepting the plea, the trial court shall allow an alleged victim of the crime to raise any
objection to the terms of the plea agreement.

502

503

[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

504

505

506

Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)

507

508

Crim.R. 11(F)

509

510

The amendment to Crim R 11(F) was made to comply with the 2017 amendment to Article I, Section
10a of the Ohio Constitution, also known as Marsy's Law.

511

512 **RULE 12. Pleadings and Motions Before Trial: Defenses and Objections**

513
514 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

515
516 **(C) Pretrial motions.** Prior to trial, any party may raise by motion any defense,
517 objection, evidentiary issue, or request that is capable of determination without the trial of the
518 general issue. The following must be raised before trial:

519
520 (1) Defenses and objections based on defects in the institution of the prosecution;

521
522 (2) Defenses and objections based on defects in the indictment, information, or complaint
523 (other than failure to show jurisdiction in the court or to charge an offense, which objections shall
524 be noticed by the court at any time during the pendency of the proceeding);

525
526 (3) Motions to suppress evidence, including but not limited to statements and identification
527 testimony, on the ground that it was illegally obtained. Such motions shall be filed in the trial court
528 only.

529
530 (4) Requests for discovery under Crim.R. 16;

531
532 (5) Requests for severance of charges or defendants under Crim.R. 14.

533
534 (6) Requests for the appointment of expert witnesses in cases where the defendant is unable
535 to afford the cost of the requested expert assistance. Upon request by defense counsel, a motion
536 in this regard may be made in camera and ex parte, and the order concerning this appointment shall
537 be under seal.

538
539 (7) Requests for the appointment of investigators in cases where the defendant is unable to
540 afford the cost of the requested investigative assistance. Upon request by defense counsel, a
541 motion in this regard may be made in camera and ex parte, and the order concerning the
542 appointment shall be under seal.

543
544 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

545
546 **(L) Motions by alleged victim.** To the extent required by Article I, Section 10a of the
547 Ohio Constitution or by the Revised Code, the trial court shall allow an alleged victim of the crime
548 to file pretrial motions in accordance with the time parameters in subsection (D).

549
550 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

551
552
553
554
555

556
557
558
559
560
561
562
563
564
565
566
567
568
569
570
571
572
573
574
575
576
577
578
579
580
581
582
583
584
585
586
587
588
589
590
591
592
593
594
595
596
597
598
599
600
601

Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)

Crim.R. 12(L)

Section (L) was added to comply with the 2017 amendment to Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution, also known as Marsy’s Law.

RULE 16. Pleadings and Motions Before Trial: Defenses and Objections

[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

(L) Regulation of discovery.

(1) The trial court may make orders regulating discovery not inconsistent with this rule. If at any time during the course of the proceedings it is brought to the attention of the court that a party has failed to comply with this rule or with an order issued pursuant to this rule, the court may order such party to permit the discovery or inspection, grant a continuance, or prohibit the party from introducing in evidence the material not disclosed, or it may make such other order as it deems just under the circumstances.

(2) The trial court specifically may regulate the time, place, and manner of a pro se defendant’s access to any discoverable material not to exceed the scope of this rule.

(3) In cases in which the attorney-client relationship is terminated prior to trial for any reason, any material that is designated “counsel only”, or limited in dissemination by protective order, must be returned to the state. Any work product derived from said material shall not be provided to the defendant.

(4) To the extent required by Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution or by the Revised Code, the trial court shall allow an alleged victim of the crime, who has so requested, to be heard regarding objections to pretrial disclosure.

[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)

Crim.R. 16(L)

Section (L)(4) was added to comply with the 2017 amendment to Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution, also known as Marsy’s Law.

602 **RULE 37. Notice to alleged victims; victim’s rights.**

603
604 To the extent required by Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution or by the Revised
605 Code, the trial court shall ensure that the alleged victim, upon request, be given notice of all public
606 proceedings involving the alleged criminal offense against the victim and the opportunity to be
607 present at all such proceedings. In this regard, the trial court may direct the prosecuting attorney
608 to provide such notice to the alleged victim.

609
610 To the extent required by Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution or by the Revised
611 Code, the trial court shall, upon request, provide the alleged victim the opportunity to be heard in
612 any public proceeding in which a right of the alleged victim is implicated, including but not limited
613 to public proceedings involving release, plea, sentencing, or disposition.

614
615
616 **Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)**

617
618 **Crim R 37-Victim’s Opportunity to be Heard**

619
620 Previously reserved, this new rule was added to comply with the 2017 amendment to Article I,
621 Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution, also known as Marsy’s Law.

622
623
624
625 **OHIO RULES OF EVIDENCE**

626
627 **RULE 615. Separation and Exclusion of Witnesses.**

628
629 (A) Except as provided in division (B) of this rule, at the request of a party the court shall
630 order witnesses excluded so that they cannot hear the testimony of other witnesses, and it may
631 make the order of its own motion. An order directing the “exclusion” or “separation” of witnesses
632 or the like, in general terms without specification of other or additional limitations, is effective
633 only to require the exclusion of witnesses from the hearing during the testimony of other witnesses.

634
635 (B) This rule does not authorize exclusion of any of the following persons from the
636 hearing:

637
638 (1) a party who is a natural person;

639
640 (2) an officer or employee of a party that is not a natural person designated as its
641 representative by its attorney;

642
643 (3) a person whose presence is shown by a party to be essential to the presentation of the
644 party’s cause;

645

646 (4) in a criminal proceeding, a an alleged victim of the charged offense to the extent that
647 the alleged victim’s presence is authorized by statute enacted by the General Assembly or by the
648 Ohio Constitution. As used in this rule, “victim” has the same meaning as in the provisions of the
649 Ohio Constitution providing rights for victims of crimes.

650 [Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

651
652
653
654 **Proposed Staff Note (2019 Amendment)**

655
656 **Evid.R. 615**

657
658 The amendment to Evid.R. 615 was made to comply with the 2017 amendment to Article I, Section
659 10a of the Ohio Constitution, also known as Marsy’s Law.

660
661
662 **RULE 801 Definitions.**

663
664 [Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

665
666 **(D) Statements that ~~which~~ are not hearsay.** A statement is not hearsay if:

667
668 (1) Prior statement by witness. The declarant testifies at trial or hearing and is subject to
669 ~~cross~~-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is (a) inconsistent with declarant’s
670 testimony, and was given under oath subject to ~~cross~~-examination by the party against whom the
671 statement is offered and subject to the penalty of perjury at a trial, hearing, or other proceeding, or
672 in a deposition, or (b) consistent with declarant’s testimony and is offered to rebut an express or
673 implied charge against declarant of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive, or (c) one
674 of identification of a person soon after perceiving the person, if the circumstances demonstrate the
675 reliability of the prior identification.

676
677 [Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

678
679
680 **Proposed Staff Notes (2019 Amendment)**

681
682 **Evid.R. 801(D)(1)**

683
684 Since its inception, Evid.R. 801(D)(1)(a) has required that, for a prior sworn statement of a witness
685 that was given at a prior trial, hearing or proceeding to be offered for its truth, the statement must have
686 been subject to cross-examination at the time it was made. Thus, for example, as written, a police officer’s
687 grand jury testimony, if inconsistent with the officer’s testimony at trial and exculpatory of the criminal
688 defendant, could only be used by the defendant to impeach and not for the truth of the matter asserted –
689 because the prosecution examined the witness in the grand jury but did not *cross-examine* the witness in
690 the grand jury. Similarly, in a civil case, a defendant who desires to impeach a plaintiff’s witness with prior
691 testimony from a prior ex parte hearing at which the witness was subject to examination, but not cross-
692 examination, by the plaintiff, is, under the letter of the Rule, not entitled to have that statement offered for
693 its truth. Such a literal reading of the rule defeats its purpose – to allow a party to use a prior inconsistent

694 statement for its truth so long as the opposing party had the opportunity to question that witness during the
695 prior testimony, regardless of whether that opportunity presented itself on cross-, as opposed to direct,
696 examination. The proposed amendment removes the requirement that the prior examination be a cross-
697 examination. Accord, State v. York, 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 49952 1985 WL 8502, (allowing prior
698 inconsistent statement of police officer given on direct examination at preliminary hearing, to be offered by
699 defense at trial as substantive evidence).

700
701
702
703 **OHIO RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE**

704
705 **RULE 3. Appeals as of Right – How Taken**

706
707 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

708
709 **(G) Docketing Statement**

710
711 **(1)** If a court of appeals has adopted an accelerated calendar by local rule pursuant to
712 Rule 11.1, the appellant shall file a docketing statement with the Clerk of the trial court with the
713 notice of appeal. (See Form 2, Appendix of Forms.)

714
715 The purpose of the docketing statement is to determine whether an appeal will be assigned
716 to the accelerated or the regular calendar.

717
718 A case may be assigned to the accelerated calendar if any of the following apply:

- 719
720 (a) No transcript is required (e.g., summary judgment or judgment on the pleadings);
721
722 (b) The length of the transcript is such that its preparation time will not be a source of
723 delay;
724 (c) An agreed statement is submitted in lieu of the record;
725
726 (d) The record was made in an administrative hearing and filed with the trial court;
727
728 (e) All parties to the appeal approve an assignment of the appeal to the accelerated
729 calendar; or
730
731 (f) The case has been designated by local rule for the accelerated calendar.

732
733 The court of appeals by local rule may assign a case to the accelerated calendar at any stage
734 of the proceeding. The court of appeals may provide by local rule for an oral hearing before a full
735 panel in order to assist it in determining whether the appeal should be assigned to the accelerated
736 calendar.

737
738 Upon motion of appellant or appellee for a procedural order pursuant to App.R. 15(B) filed
739 within seven days after ~~the notice of appeal is filed with the clerk of the trial court~~ a case is placed

740 upon the accelerated calendar, a case may be removed for good cause from the accelerated calendar
741 and assigned to the regular calendar. Demonstration of a unique issue of law which will be of
742 substantial precedential value in the determination of similar cases will ordinarily be good cause
743 for transfer to the regular calendar
744

745 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

746
747 **Proposed Staff Note (July 1, 2019 Amendment)**
748

749 **App.R. 3**
750

751 The amendment to App.R. 3(G) is designed to ensure that a party who wishes to challenge the
752 assignment of an appeal to the accelerated calendar has adequate notice of the assignment before the
753 seven-day deadline for moving to transfer to the regular calendar begins to run.
754

755 **RULE 5. Appeals by Leave of Court in Criminal Cases**
756

757 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**
758

759 **(C) Motion by prosecution for leave to appeal.** When leave is sought by the prosecution
760 from the court of appeals to appeal ~~a judgment or an~~ order of the trial court, a motion for leave to
761 appeal shall be filed with the court of appeals within thirty days from the entry of the ~~judgment~~
762 ~~and~~ order sought to be appealed (or, if that order is not a final order, within thirty days of the final
763 order into which it merges) and shall set forth the errors that the movant claims occurred in the
764 proceedings of the trial court. The motion shall be accompanied by affidavits, or by the parts of
765 the record upon which the movant relies, to show the probability that the errors claimed did in fact
766 occur, and by a brief or memorandum of law in support of the movant's claims. Concurrently with
767 the filing of the motion, the movant shall file with the clerk of the trial court a notice of appeal in
768 the form prescribed by App. R. 3 and file a copy of the notice of appeal in the court of appeals.
769 The movant also shall furnish a copy of the motion and a copy of the notice of appeal to the clerk
770 of the court of appeals who shall serve the notice of appeal and a copy of the motion for leave to
771 appeal upon the attorney for the defendant who, within thirty days from the filing of the motion,
772 may file affidavits, parts of the record, and brief or memorandum of law to refute the claims of the
773 movant.
774

775 **(D)(1) Motion by defendant for leave to appeal consecutive sentences pursuant to R.C.**
776 **2953.08(C).** When leave is sought from the court of appeals for leave to appeal consecutive
777 sentences pursuant to R.C. 2953.08(C), a motion for leave to appeal shall be filed with the court
778 of appeals within thirty days from the entry of the ~~judgment and~~ order sought to be appealed and
779 shall set forth the reason why the consecutive sentences exceed the maximum prison term allowed.
780 The motion shall be accompanied by a copy of the ~~judgment and~~ order stating the sentences
781 imposed and stating the offense of which movant was found guilty or to which movant pled guilty.
782 Concurrently with the filing of the motion, the movant shall file with the clerk of the trial court a
783 notice of appeal in the form prescribed by App.R. 3 and file a copy of the notice of appeal in the
784 court of appeals. The movant also shall furnish a copy of the notice of appeal and a copy of the

785 motion to the clerk of the court of appeals who shall serve the notice of appeal and the motion
786 upon the prosecuting attorney.

787
788 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

789
790
791 **Proposed Staff Notes (July 1, 2019 Amendment)**

792
793 The amendment to App.R. 5(C) regarding the prosecution's motion for leave to appeal an order
794 that was not final when it was made, but subsequently merged into a final order, is intended to address only
795 the required timing of such a motion. The amendment does not affect the threshold determination of
796 whether an order is, in fact, a final order, which is determined with reference to the relevant Ohio statutes.

797
798 The additional amendments to App.R. 5(C) and 5(D)(1) remove references to a "judgment or order"
799 and a "judgment and order," instead referring solely to an "order." These amendments bring the rules into
800 conformity with the language of App.R. 4(A), which was similarly amended in 2014. As noted in the July 1,
801 2014 Staff Note to App.R. 4, these changes are not substantive.

802
803
804 **OHIO RULES OF JUVENILE PROCEDURE**

805
806 **RULE 22. Pleadings and Motions; Defenses and Objections**

807
808 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

809
810 **(G) Motions by alleged victim.** To the extent required by Article I, Section 10a of the
811 Ohio Constitution or by the Revised Code, the trial court shall allow an alleged victim of a crime
812 to file pretrial motions in accordance with the time parameters in subsection (E).

813
814 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

815
816 **RULE 24. Discovery**

817
818 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

819
820 **(D) Rights of alleged victims.** To the extent required by Article I, Section 10a of the
821 Ohio Constitution or by the Revised Code, the trial court shall allow an alleged victim of a crime,
822 who has so requested, to be heard regarding objections to pretrial disclosure.

823
824 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

825
826
827
828
829
830

831 **RULE 26. Rights of alleged victim of crime**

832
833 To the extent required by Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution or by the Revised
834 Code, the trial court shall ensure that the alleged victim of a crime, upon request, be given notice
835 of all public proceedings involving the alleged criminal offense against the victim and the
836 opportunity to be present at all such proceedings. In this regard, the trial court may direct the
837 prosecuting attorney to provide such notice to the alleged victim.

838
839 To the extent required by Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution or by the Revised
840 Code, the trial court shall, upon request, provide the alleged victim of a crime the opportunity to
841 be heard in any public proceeding in which a right of the alleged victim is implicated, including
842 but not limited to public proceedings involving release, plea, sentencing, or disposition.

843
844
845 **RULE 29. Adjudicatory Hearing**

846
847 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

848
849 **(F) Procedure upon determination of the issues.** Upon the determination of the
850 issues, the court shall do one of the following:

851
852 (1) If the allegations of the complaint, indictment, or information were not proven,
853 dismiss the complaint;

854
855 (2) If the allegations of the complaint, indictment, or information are admitted or
856 proven, do any one of the following, unless precluded by statute:

857
858 (a) Enter an adjudication and proceed forthwith to disposition;

859
860 (b) Enter an adjudication and continue the matter for disposition for not more
861 than six months and may make appropriate temporary orders;

862
863 (c) Postpone entry of adjudication for not more than six months;

864
865 (d) Dismiss the complaint if dismissal is in the best interest of the child and the
866 community.

867
868 (3) Upon request make written findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to Civ.
869 R. 52.

870
871 (4) Ascertain whether the child should remain or be placed in shelter care until the
872 dispositional hearing in an abuse, neglect, or dependency proceeding. In making a shelter care
873 determination, the court shall make written finding of facts with respect to reasonable efforts in

874 accordance with the provisions in Juv. R. 27(B)(1) and to relative placement in accordance with
875 Juv. R. 7(F)(3).

876
877 (5) To the extent required by Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution or by the
878 Revised Code, before disposition, allow an alleged victim of a crime to be heard.

879
880 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

881

882

883 **RULE 34. Dispositional Hearing**

884

885 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

886

887 **(B) Hearing procedure.** The hearing shall be conducted in the following manner:

888

889 (1) The judge or magistrate who presided at the adjudicatory hearing shall, if possible,
890 preside;

891

892 (2) Except as provided in division (I) of this rule, the court may admit evidence that is
893 material and relevant, including, but not limited to, hearsay, opinion, and documentary evidence;

894

895 (3) Medical examiners and each investigator who prepared a social history shall not be
896 cross-examined, except upon consent of all parties, for good cause shown, or as the court in its
897 discretion may direct. Any party may offer evidence supplementing, explaining, or disputing any
898 information contained in the social history or other reports that may be used by the court in
899 determining disposition.

900

901 (4) To the extent required by Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution or by the
902 Revised Code, before disposition, the trial court shall allow an alleged victim of a crime to be
903 heard.

904

905 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**